NO. 45941-8-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS  
FOR THE STATE OF WASHINGTON  
DIVISION II

---

---

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

BRETT EVERETTE,

Appellant.

---

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE  
SUPERIOR COURT OF COWLITZ COUNTY

The Honorable Marilyn Haan, Judge

OPENING BRIEF OF APPELLANT

---

---

Peter B. Tiller, WSBA No. 20835  
Of Attorneys for Appellant

The Tiller Law Firm  
Corner of Rock and Pine  
P. O. Box 58  
Centralia, WA 98531  
(360) 736-9301

**A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. The evidence was insufficient to convict the appellant of attempted kidnapping in the first degree.

2. The jury instructions did not require the jury to unanimously agree on the acts underlying felony harassment as required by the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments and Article I, sections 3, 21, and 22 of the Washington Constitution.

3. The trial court erred by convicting the appellant of unlawful possession of a firearm where there is insufficient evidence that he ever owned or possessed a firearm.

4. The trial court erred in denying the appellant an extension of time in which to file a motion for new trial.

5. The appellant assigns error to the following conclusion of law pertaining to the motion for new trial:

Defendant's motion for a new trial is denied for failure to file within the time limits specified by CrR 7.5 (b).

Clerks Papers (CP) 189.

6. The appellant assigns error to the following conclusion of law pertaining to the motion for new trial:

Because the Defendant did not present a sufficient basis to extend the time for filing under CrR 7.5 (b), no additional time for filing is granted.

CP 189.

7. The appellant assigns error to the following conclusion of law pertaining to the motion for new trial:

CrR 7.5 (a)(3) does not apply because no newly discovered evidence has been presented, as the information presented by the Defendant's motion was known at the time of trial.

CP 189.

8. The appellant assigns error to the following conclusion of law pertaining to the motion for new trial:

Had the Defendant's attorney presented the information he now claims should have been presented, it would not have changed the outcome of the trial.

CP 189.

9. The trial court erred when it dismissed appellant's motion for new trial based on a finding that it had no jurisdiction to decide the motion.

10. The appellant assigns error to the following conclusion of law pertaining to the motion for new trial:

Because the Defendant filed his notice of appeal, jurisdiction for the issues he now raises belongs to the Court of Appeals. Any issues the Defendant chooses to raise should be brought before the Court of Appeals.

CP 189.

11. The appellant assigns error to the following conclusion of law petition to the motion for new trial:

Under RAP 7.2 (e), the trial court is not permitted to rule on the issues raised in the Defendant's post-judgment motions without receiving permission from the Court of Appeals. The trial court has not received this permission from the Court of Appeals.

CP 189.

**B. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

1. In order for the State to prove attempted kidnapping in the first degree beyond a reasonable doubt, the State must prove the defendant took an act constituting a substantial step toward abduction of the victim with an intent to inflict bodily injury on her or inflict extreme mental distress.

In the instant case, Brett Everette was charged with attempted first degree kidnapping for restraining Kendra Swanger in a bedroom by threatening her and telling her that he was "gonna put some new holes in her head." Ms. Swanger said that Mr. Everette had a handgun; another witness believed he had a gun but did not actually see a weapon. Did the State present sufficient evidence that Mr. Everette committed attempted kidnapping of Ms. Swanger? Assignment of Error No. 1.



2. The jury trial provisions of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 21 of the Washington Constitution require jury unanimity beyond a reasonable doubt of every essential element of the crime charged. When evidence indicates two distinct acts, either one of which could form the basis of a crime of felony harassment, the jurors must be instructed they all must agree beyond a reasonable doubt on the same act. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in failing to give a unanimity instruction when the prosecution presented evidence of a multiple events that could be construed as threatening bodily injury? Assignment of Error No. 2.

3. Whether there is sufficient evidence to support a conviction for first degree unlawful possession of a firearm where there is no evidence that the appellant had in his possession or controlled a firearm other than a statement by one witness that she saw a gun, which was contradicted by another witness who said that he did not see a gun, and where the gun allegedly seen by the first witness was not recovered by law enforcement? Assignment of Error No. 3.

4. Did the trial court abuse its discretion in denying a motion for new trial based solely on the fact that the motion was not within 10 days of the

verdict? Assignment of Error Nos. 4 and 5.

5. Did the trial court err when it dismissed appellant's motion for new trial based on the court's ruling that that once a defendant appeals his conviction, the trial court loses all jurisdiction to determine a motion for new trial?

Assignment of Error Nos. 6-11.

### **C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

#### **1. Procedural history:**

Brett Everette was charged by amended information in the Cowlitz County Superior Court with attempted kidnapping in the first degree (RCW 9A.40.020(1)(c), (d)); felony harassment (RCW 9A.46.020(1)(a)(i)); and unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree (RCW 9.91.040(1)(a)). Clerk's Papers (CP) 31-33. The State alleged that Counts 1 and 2 were committed while Mr. Everette was armed with a firearm (RCW 9.94A.533(3)). CP 32.

Jury trial in the matter started December 18, 2013, the Honorable Marilyn Haan presiding. 12/18/13Report of Proceedings (RP) at 42.<sup>1</sup>

The jury instruction listing all essential elements the prosecution must prove for felony harassment did not tell the jury that they must unanimously agree that the prosecution proved a specific threat necessary for a felony harassment conviction. CP 103, 105.

**2. Trial evidence:**

Kendra Swanger, who had used heroin since age 16, was going out with Brad Martin, who was also a heroin user. 12/19/13RP at 10, 11. They broke up in July or August, 2013, and at that time she started seeing Joey Sanchez, who supplied her with heroin. 12/18/13RP RP at 55, 56. Ms. Swanger testified that Nate Hart, the step father of Joey Sanchez, agreed to give his vehicle to Joey Sanchez in exchange for methamphetamine. 12/18/13RP at 57. However, Joey Sanchez did not provide the

---

<sup>1</sup>The record of proceedings consists of five volumes:

Report of Proceedings from September 6, 2013, September 10, 2013, September 24, 2013, October 1, 2013, October 8, 2013, October 23, 2013, October 24, 2013, October 31, 2013, November 1, 2013, November 5, 2013, November 7, 2013, November 12, 2013, December 5, 2013, December 9, 2013, December 10, 2013, December 11, 2013, December 12, 2013, December 13, 2013, January 13, 2014, February 3, 2014, February 10, 2014, (sentencing hearing), February 25, 2014, March 5, 2014, March 12, 2014, and March 19, 2014;  
12/18/13RP (jury trial);  
12/19/13RP, (jury trial, morning session);  
12/19/13RP, (jury trial, afternoon session); and  
12/20/13RP, (jury trial).

methamphetamine to Mr. Hart as arranged. 12/18/13RP at 57. Because of her relationship with Mr. Sanchez, Mr. Hart asked Ms. Swanger to retrieve the vehicle from Mr. Sanchez, and she agreed to do so. 12/18/13RP at 57. On or around August 7, 2013, while Mr. Sanchez was high on heroin, she took the vehicle and returned it to Mr. Hart, who was at Maria Johnson's house, which is located in Longview, Washington. 12/18/13RP at 58.

Ms. Swanger stated that several people including Joey Sanchez and his brother David, were angry with her as a result of her actions, and subsequently she was hiding from them. 12/18/13RP at 59,105. On August 12, 2013 she was at Ms. Johnson's house in a bedroom with Brad Martin, with whom she had apparently reconciled. 12/18/13RP at 60.

Mr. Everette came to the front door of the house and said to Ms. Johnson that he knew her and he was checking on her. Ms. Swanger stated that Mr. Everette then came into the bedroom with two other individuals. She stated that Mr. Everette said: "So, what's up with my homey's car," and when she got up from the bed he grabbed her by her hair and neck and threw her back on the bed. 12/18/13RP at 65, 66. She testified that Mr. Everette held her down by her neck and when she got up, he "flashed a gun" that she said resembled a 9 mm handgun owned by Mr. Sanchez. 12/18/13RP at 68. She said that Mr. Everett repeatedly said to Mr. Martin that "You need to get

your bitch to tell me where Joey's car is at." 12/18/13RP at 69. She said that when she tried to leave the room after he threw her on the bed, Mr. Everette said that nobody was allowed to leave. 12/18/13RP at 66.

Ms. Swanger stated that she saw Mr. Everette point a black handgun at her. Mr. Martin did not see Mr. Everette with a handgun and did not see him point a gun, but stated that he believed that he had one in the waistband of his pants based on the movements that he was making when he was confronting Ms. Swanger. 12/19/13RP at 31, 32, 38. Mr. Martin stated that Mr. Everette said his "homies" have a "Mossberg" out in the car, implying that he had access to a shotgun. 12/19/13RP at 18. Mr. Martin said that Mr. Everette told Ms. Swanger that he was "gonna put some new holes in her head." 12/19/13RP at 17.

Maria Johnson identified Mr. Everette as the person who came to her house on August 12, 2013. 12/18/13RP at 155. She testified that he was at her house on for approximately 40 minutes. 12/18/13RP at 157. She stated that she did not see him with a weapon and that she would have called the police if she had seen a weapon. 12/18/13RP at 156.

Ms. Swanger also testified that Mr. Everette made a telephone call from the bedroom in order to find David and Joey Sanchez to have them come to Maria Johnson's house. 12/18/13RP at 70.

She said that Ms. Johnson came into the bedroom and that she then followed Ms. Johnson out of the room. 12/18/13RP at 71. Mr. Everette followed her and then took Ms. Swanger back into the bedroom, then left the room. 12/18/13RP at 71. She said that at that time Mr. Martin wedged a skateboard upside down under the door so that it could not be easily opened, then they both left the house by going out a window. 12/18/13RP at 71. They both ran through a gate in the backyard. 12/18/13RP at 75, 76. While running, Ms. Swanger tripped on gravel in an alley, scraping her leg. 12/18/13RP at 76. Despite this, Mr. Martin continued running. 12/18/13RP at 76.

Ms. Swanger testified that while she was in the alley, she saw David Sanchez driving a Nissan Pathfinder toward her. Marcus Cochran and Joey Sanchez were also in the Pathfinder. 12/18/13RP at 77. The SUV stopped and Joey Sanchez got out and ran after her, grabbed her shoulder and pulled her backwards, causing her to fall. 12/18/13RP at 78. After she was on the ground, Mr. Cochran and Joey Sanchez started to drag her to the SUV. 12/18/13RP at 78, 111. She stated that a shotgun fell from Joey Sanchez' side of the SUV. 12/18/13RP at 79. She said that Mr. Cochran said that someone had called the police, then dropped her, and they got back into the

SUV and left. 12/18/13RP at 79.

Marcus Cochran stated that David Sanchez was driving the Pathfinder in the alley, and that Joey Sanchez pointed an unloaded shotgun out of the window of the SUV at Ms. Swanger and shouted “where the (deleted)’s my car?” 12/19/13RP at 161.

Bob Ross and his wife were showing a washer and dryer they had for sale in their utility room to another couple on August 12. While in the utility room, Mr. Ross heard a car speeding down the alley and the sound of woman screaming just before the vehicle came to a stop. 12/18/13RP at 43, 44. Mr. Ross identified the vehicle as a Nissan Pathfinder. 12/18/13RP at 46. The Pathfinder was occupied by three males, and they had opened the vehicle’s doors. 12/18/13RP at 45, 48. The SUV’s occupants then closed the doors and accelerated away again, leaving the woman in the alley. 12/18/13RP at 45. Mr. Ross described the woman as being frightened. 12/18/13RP at 47. The woman, identified as Kendra Swanger, appeared to have scrapes on her leg. 12/18/13RP RP at 47, 48. Mr. Ross asked if she needed help and she said no, that she had warrants for her arrest, and then ran away. 12/18/13RP at 47.

Ms. Swanger stated that she was stopped by police a block away.

12/18/13RP at 80. She told the police that she was Kayla Swanger, who is actually her sister. 12/18/13RP at 80. The Nissan Pathfinder was located by the Longview Police Department and impounded. 12/19/13RP at 191.

Ms. Swanger was properly identified and arrested for warrants approximately two weeks later. 12/18/13RP at 90. While in the jail she testified that she heard a male voice that she identified as being Mr. Everette, yelling through the wall from the cell next to her that "She's a rat." 12/18/13RP at 91.

The defense rested without calling any witnesses. 12/19/13RP at 121. 869

### **3. Verdicts, enhancements, and sentence:**

The jury found Mr. Everette guilty as charged in Counts 1 through 3. CP 114, 117, 120. The jury also found firearm enhancements in Counts 1 and 2. CP 116, 119. At sentencing the court found that Mr. Everette had two prior offenses that constituted most serious offenses and Mr. Everette to be a persistent offender under RCW 9.94A.030(36)(a)(i),(ii), the Persistent Offender Accountability Act (POAA). 2/10/14RP at 145-46. Mr. Everette was sentenced under RCW 9.94A.570 to life without the possibility of early release in Counts 1 and 2, and a standard range sentence of 116 months in



Count 3. CP 137.

**4. Motion for new trial:**

The jury returned verdicts on December 20, 2013. CP 114, 117, 120. On February 12, 2014, Mr. Everette filed a pro se motion for new trial alleging newly discovered information regarding the allegation that he made telephone calls to Mr. Sanchez from Maria Johnson's house. In his motion, Mr. Everette argued that no phone records support the allegation that he made calls to Joey Sanchez in order to have him come to the house, therefore challenging the State's claim of accomplice liability. CP 142-46.

The sentencing took place was on February 10, 2014, and notice of appeal was filed February 14, 2014. CP 147.

On February 25, 2014, Mr. Everette filed additional pro se motions in support of his request for a new trial pursuant to CrR 7.8. CP 150-63. Mr. Everette was appointed new counsel, who filed a second notice of appeal on March 12, 2014. CP 165.

The motions for new trial were heard March 12, 2014. The State argued that the trial court lost jurisdiction to hearing a motion for new trial. 3/12/14RP at 173. The State also argued that the motions should be transferred to this Court as a Personal Restraint Petition unless the court

determined that a evidentiary hearing is required. 3/12/14RP at 174.

The court found that the motion for new trial was not timely filed under CrR 7.5. 3/12/14RP at 183. The court found that even if timely filed, and that even if the new information regarding the absence of working cell phones in the Pathfinder had been admitted at trial, it would not have changed the outcome of the trial. 3/12/14RP at 184.

The court also found that it lost all jurisdiction to decide the motion because Mr. Everette filed a notice of appeal. 3/12/14RP at 185.

The following findings of fact and conclusions of law were entered regarding the motion for new trial:

#### I. FINDINGS OF FACT

1. On December 20, 2013, after a jury trial, the Defendant's guilty verdicts were entered.
2. On January 31, 2014, the Defendant filed a pro se motion for a new trial.
3. During the time period between the entry of the guilty verdicts and sentencing, the Defendant remained represented by his trial attorney, Bruce Hanify.
4. On February 10, 2014, the Defendant was sentenced.
5. At sentencing, because the Defendant's pro se motion for a new trial included a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel, the Court appointed the Cowlitz County Office of Public Defense to represent the Defendant on his motion. Mr. Hanify remained as the Defendant's attorney of record for all other matters involving his case.

6. On February 14, 2014, the Defendant filed his notice of appeal.
7. In his notice of appeal, the Defendant appeals the entirety of his trial and judgment and sentence.
8. On February 25, 2014, the Defendant filed additional pro se motions in support of his request for a new trial, with additional bases added to the original claims.
9. In his motion for a new trial, the Defendant claims information was not presented at the trial. The information was known to the Defendant at the time of trial, and the decision was made not to present this information at trial.
10. On March 5, 2014, due to a conflict of interest, the Cowlitz County Office of Public Defense was permitted to withdraw as the Defendant's attorney on his pro se motion for a new trial, and attorney James Jeffrey Sowder was appointed to represent the Defendant on this motion.

## II. CONCLUSIONS OF LAW.

1. The Defendant's motion for a new trial is denied for failure to file within the time limits specified by CrR 7.5 (b).
2. Because the Defendant did not present a sufficient basis to extend the time for filing under CrR 7.5 (b), no additional time for filing is granted.
3. CrR 7.5 (a)(3) does not apply because no newly discovered evidence has been presented, as the information presented by the Defendant's motion was known at the time of trial.
4. Had the Defendant's attorney presented the information he now claims should have been presented, it would not have changed the outcome of the trial.
5. Because the Defendant filed his notice of appeal, jurisdiction for the issues he now raises belongs to the Court of Appeals. Any issues the

Defendant chooses to raise should be brought before the Court of Appeals.

6. Under RAP 7.2 (e), the trial court is not permitted to rule on the issues raised in the Defendant's post-judgment motions without receiving permission from the Court of Appeals. The trial court has not received this permission from the Court of Appeals.

CP 188-89.

Timely notice of appeal was filed February 14, 2014 and March 10, 2014. CP 147, 165-66. This appeal follows.

#### D. ARGUMENT

1. **THE STATE PRESENTED INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO PROVE BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT MR. EVERETTE COMMITTED ATTEMPTED KIDNAPPING IN THE FIRST DEGREE**

a. **The state must prove each element of the alleged offense beyond a reasonable doubt**

In all criminal prosecutions, due process requires that the state prove every fact necessary to constitute the charged crime beyond a reasonable doubt. U.S. Const. amend. 14; Const. art. 1, § 3; *In re Winship*, 397 U.S. 358, 364, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368, 90 S. Ct. 1068 (1970); *State v. Crediford*, 130 Wn.2d 747, 749, 927 P.2d 1129 (1996).

Evidence is sufficient if, viewed in the light most favorable to the State, it would permit any rational trier of fact to find the essential