NO. 45941-8-II

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF
WASHINGTON,**

DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

BRETT EVERETTE,

Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

RYAN JURVAKAINEN
Prosecuting Attorney
ERIC BENTSON/WSBA 38471
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE
312 SW FIRST
KELSO, WA 98626
(360) 577-3080

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

Because Everette’s threats to Swanger were a continuing course of conduct, a unanimity instruction as not required. “A multiple acts unanimity instruction is not required when the State presents evidence of multiple acts that indicate a ‘continuing course of conduct.’” *State v. Locke*, 175, Wn.App. 779, 803, 307 P.3d 771 (2013) (citing *State v. Crane*, 116 Wn.2d 315, 326, 804 P.2d 10 (1991); *State v. Love*, 80 Wn.App. 357, 361, 908 P.2d 395 (1996)). Everette maintains that there were three acts that constituted threats to kill by Everette in the bedroom: threatening to kill her, threatening to put holes in her head, and flashing the handgun. Though Everette does not specifically argue this, his brief appears to suggest that there was potentially another threat to kill when Joey pointed the shotgun at Swanger. Everette argues that these acts were distinct and required a unanimity instruction. However, because the

⁴ It is also noteworthy that in Everette’s brief he asserts there was sufficient evidence to show Everette threatened to kill Swanger. *See Appellant’s Brief* at 22.

threats were part of a continuing course of conduct, a unanimity instruction was unnecessary.

When the State charges one count of criminal conduct and presents evidence of more than one criminal act that would prove this charge, there is a concern that a jury verdict may not be unanimous. *See Love*, 80 Wn.App. at 360-61 (citing *State v. Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403, 411, 756 P.2d 105 (1988)). The State may elect to either to rely on a single act for the conviction or for the jury be instructed that all 12 jurors must agree as to which act has been proved beyond a reasonable doubt. *State v. Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d 566, 570, 572 683 P.2d 173 (1984). The *Petrich* rule, requiring a unanimity instruction, applies to multiple act cases. *See Crane*, 116 Wn.2d at 325 (citing as examples *Kitchen*, 110 Wn.2d 403 (one count of rape stemming from several separate sexual acts occurring between July and October of 1983); *Workman*, 66 Wn.App. 292, 119 P. 751 (1911) (one count of statutory rape stemming from evidence of three distinct sexual acts occurring at different times and places); *State v. Gitchel*, 41 Wn.App. 820, 822, 706 P.2d 1091 (1985) (one count of statutory rape arising out of two separate sexual acts which occurred 'on or about June to July 1983')). Multiple acts tend to be shown by evidence of acts that occur at different times, in different places, or against different victims. *Locke*, 175, Wn.App. at 802 (citing *Love*, 80 Wn.App. at 361).

However, the unanimity requirement announced in *Petrich* was never intended to require a unanimity instruction where “a continuing course of conduct may form the basis of one charge in an information.” *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 571. As an example of a continuing offense, the *Petrich* Court cited to *People v. Mota*, 115 Cal.App.3d 227, 171 Cal.Rptr. 212 (1981), where a repeated gang rape of a victim over a several hour period was held to be a continuing offense as to each defendant. *Id.* When the State presents evidence of multiple acts that indicate a continuing course of conduct, a unanimity instruction is not required. *Id.* at 803 (citing *Crane*, 116 Wn.2d at 326; *Love*, 80 Wn.App. at 361). The jury must simply agree that the conduct occurred. *State v. Marko*, 107 Wn.App. 215, 220, 27 P.3d 228 (2001). “A continuing course of conduct requires an ongoing enterprise with a single objective.” *Locke*, 175 Wn.App. at 803 (quoting *Love*, 80 Wn.App. at 361). “The defendant’s actions must be evaluated in a ‘commonsense manner’ to determine whether it forms one continuing offense.” *Marko*, 107 Wn.App. at 220 (citing *Petrich*, 101 Wn.2d at 571). Courts must distinguish whether the evidence was of one continuous offense or several distinct acts. *Locke*, 175 Wn.App. at 802-03 (citing *Love*, 80 Wn.App. at 361).

“Washington courts have found a continuing course of conduct in cases where multiple acts of the charged crime were committed with a

single purpose against one victim in a short period of time.” *Id.* at 803-04.

In *Love* the court explained:

The continuing course of conduct exception has been applied to multiple acts of assault over a two-hour time period resulting in a fatal injury, *Crane*, 116 Wn.2d at 330; to acts of assault occurring in one place, during a short period of time, by the same aggressor upon a single victim, in an attempt to secure sexual relations, *State v. Handran*, 113 Wn.2d 11, 17, 77e P.2d 453 (1989); to acts taken collectively to promote prostitution *State v. Gooden*, 51 Wn.App. 615, 620, 754 P.2d 1000, *review denied*, 111 Wn.2d 1012 (1988) and to acts of assault for the purposes of intimidating a witness, *United States v. Berardi*, 675 F.2d 894 (7th Cir.1982).

Love, 80 Wn.App. at 361. In *Love*, the court found that cocaine found on the defendant’s person when arrested just outside his residence, and then additional cocaine found during the subsequent execution of a search warrant on the Defendant’s residence could be considered as evidence of the continuing offense of possession of a controlled substance with intent to deliver. *Id.* at 358-360, 363. Thus, when acts are close in time and place and involve a single victim, courts generally find a continuing course of conduct. When events occur on different dates, at different locations, and involve multiple victims, then they are most often considered separate and distinct acts.

Here, the threatening conduct occurred within a short period of time, at the same location, involved a single victim, and was part of an

ongoing enterprise with a single objective. Accordingly, evidence of the threats to kill Swanger constituted a continuing course of conduct. To prove felony harassment, the State must not only prove that the defendant threatened to kill the victim, but also that by words and conduct he placed her in reasonable fear that the threat to kill would be carried out. *See* RCW 9A.46.020. Here, when Everette was in the room, he told Swanger he was not afraid to kill her, flashed a handgun at her, told her he would put holes in her head. He also told her his “homies” had a “Mossberg” down in the car, referencing the shotgun. All of this threatening conduct occurred within a period of 30 minutes or less, in the same bedroom, and Swanger was the lone victim. Further, they were all directed toward the singular objective of forcing Swanger to provide information about the missing vehicle. As such, they easily fit within the continuing course of conduct exception.

Everette’s suggestion that Joey’s pointing the shotgun at Swanger constituted an additional threat sufficient to prove felony harassment is

flawed.⁵ For this threat to be sufficient to prove felony harassment, it would have been necessary for the State to present evidence that Swanger was aware that Joey had pointed the shotgun at her. However, no evidence was presented at trial that Swanger observed or was aware that Joey point the shotgun at her. Swanger's only testimony to observing the shotgun was after Joey had pulled her down outside the Pathfinder, when she saw it had fallen from where Joey had been sitting. RP 12/18/13 at 77-79. Because there was no evidence that Swanger was aware Joey had pointed the shotgun at her, standing alone this evidence would have been insufficient to prove felony harassment.

Further, even if Swanger had observed the shotgun being pointed at her, by yelling "Where the fuck's my car?" when he pointed the shotgun at her, Joey demonstrated a singular objective consistent with Everette's, doing "whatever it takes" to get Swanger to tell them where the car was. And Everette himself connected the shotgun with the other threats when he said his "homies" had a "Mossberg" down in the car. As in *Mota*, acts of multiple defendants connected in time and place against the same

⁵ Everette's claim that the pointing of the gun was argued by the prosecutor to support the elements of the felony harassment charge is incorrect. When arguing the elements of felony harassment the prosecutor referenced Everette's threat regarding the "Mossberg" in the car but did not reference Joey pointing the gun at Swanger. RP 12/20/13 at 67-68. The prosecutor's argument regarding the shotgun was with regard to the firearm enhancement for the shotgun that was attached to the felony harassment charge. RP 12/20/13 at 71.

victim with the singular objective constitute a continuing course of conduct. Because the threats involved were close in time, place, involved a single victim, and shared a singular objective, they were part of a continuing offense, and a unanimity instruction was not required.

- C. There was sufficient evidence to find Everette guilty of unlawful possession of a firearm in the first degree, because he had previously been convicted of a serious offense, multiple witnesses directly observed him in possession of a black handgun, and this was also supported by circumstantial evidence.**

When considered in the light most favorable to the State and interpreted most strongly against Everette, there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find Everette unlawfully possessed a firearm in the first degree. As previously stated: “A claim of insufficiency admits the truth of the State’s evidence and all inferences that can be drawn therefrom.” *Salinas*, 119 Wn.2d at 201; *See supra*, Section IV-A. Everette argues that there was insufficient evidence to prove he unlawfully possessed the handgun. However, when the State’s evidence is considered true, and all inferences are drawn in favor of the State, Everette’s claim of insufficient evidence fails.

“In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence...the relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any rational trier of fact* could have found the essential

elements of the crime *beyond a reasonable doubt.*” *State v. Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d 118, 152, 110 P.3d 192 (2005) (quoting *Green*, 94 Wn.2d at 221 (quoting *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 318, 99 S.Ct. 2781, 61 L.Ed.2d 560 (1979)), *overruled on other grounds by Washington v. Recuenco*, 548 U.S. 212, 126 S.Ct. 2546, 165 L.Ed.2d 466 (2006)) (emphasis in original). When evaluating the sufficiency of the evidence, circumstantial evidence is not to be considered less reliable than direct evidence. *Delmarter*, 94 Wn.2d at 638. “Determinations of credibility are for the fact finder and are not reviewable on appeal.” *State v. Brockob*, 159 Wn.2d 311, 336 150 P.3d 59 (2006) (quoting *Hughes*, 154 Wn.2d at 152). The reviewing court will “defer to the trier of fact on decisions resolving conflicting testimony and the credibility of witnesses.” *State v. Monschke*, 133 Wn.App. 313, 333, 135 P.3d 966 (2006) (citing *State v. Thomas*, 150 Wn.2d 821, 874-75, 83 P.3d 970 (2006)).

Here, there was sufficient evidence to prove that Everette unlawfully possessed a firearm. At trial, the parties stipulated that Everette had previously been convicted of a serious offense that prohibited him from possessing a firearm. CP at 34. Thus, in examining the sufficiency of the evidence, the only issue is whether or not Everette possessed a firearm on or about the date charged. The jury heard testimony from Cochran that a few days prior to the August 12, 2013, he

observed Everette with a black .45 caliber or 9-millimeter handgun that had previously belonged to Joey. Everette possessed this gun when he discussed looking for Swanger. Swanger observed Everette display a 9-millimeter handgun that she had previously seen in Joey's possession. Further, at the time Swanger observed the gun, Everette was threatening to kill her and put holes in her head. If the jury found Swanger or Cochran's testimony regarding direct observation of Everette in possession of the handgun to be credible, this evidence was sufficient to find Everette guilty. Further, the circumstantial evidence surrounding this event also supported this conclusion.

Everette incorrectly asserts that because Martin did not personally see the gun, his testimony contradicted Swanger's. However, rather than contradict Swanger's testimony, Martin's testimony provided additional circumstantial evidence that Everette possessed the handgun. It should be noted that Swanger described Everette as having briefly "flashed" the gun at her. Although they were in the same room, Martin was using heroin at the time and was also observed attempting to look in the opposite direction of Swanger and Everette. Therefore, it was possible for Swanger to have observed the handgun without Martin doing so. Martin did observe Everette gesturing and reaching for the belt line of his pants, as he was threatening Swanger. This caused Martin to believe that Everette had a

gun. Because the jury heard testimony from multiple witnesses that Everett possessed the handgun, and the jury is the sole judge of witness credibility, there was sufficient evidence for the jury to find Everett guilty of unlawfully possessing a firearm in the first degree.

D. The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it declined to grant Everett an extension to file his motion for a new trial when he failed to file it within the 10-day limit required by CrR 7.5(b).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion when it found Everett's motion for a new trial was untimely, because it was filed well after the 10-day time limit set forth by CrR 7.5(b) and did not provide a sufficient basis under CrR 7.5(a).⁶ CrR 7.5(b) states: "A motion for a new trial must be served and filed within 10 days after the verdict or decision. The court on application of the defendant or on its own motion may in its discretion extend the time." Everett filed his motion for a new trial 42 days after the verdict was entered. After reviewing the substance of Everett's claims, appointing an attorney to assist him with his motion, the trial court judge, who presided over the trial, chose not to extend the time

⁶ Everett also argues in his brief, that the trial court abused its discretion by finding that upon the filing of an appeal it no longer had jurisdiction under RAP 7.2(e). If the trial court misinterpreted the rule, it seems odd to characterize this as an abuse of discretion. Because the trial court did not abuse its discretion in denying the motion as untimely under CrR 7.5(b), the jurisdictional issue is not addressed in the State's response. The State defers to the Court of Appeals' interpretation of RAP 7.2(e) as to when jurisdiction belongs to the Court of Appeals rather than the trial court.

for filing and denied the motion as untimely. In doing so, the trial court did not abuse its discretion.

“The trial court is invested with broad discretion in granting motions for a new trial, and the trial court’s determination will not be disturbed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” *State v. Marks*, 71 Wn.2d 295, 302, 427 P.2d 1008 (1967). “A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on untenable grounds or reasons.” *State v. Depaz*, 165 Wn.2d 842, 852, 204 P.3d 217 (2009) (citing *State v. Powell*, 126 Wn.2d 244, 258, 893 P.2d 615 (1995)). “An abuse of discretion occurs only when no reasonable judge would have reached the same conclusion.” *State v. Bourgeois*, 133 Wn.2d 389, 406, 945 P.2d 1120 (1997) (quoting *Sofie v. Fibreboard Corp.*, 112 Wn.2d 636, 667, 771 P.2d 711 (1989)).

Here, Everette’s brief does not provide any substantive argument as to why the court should have extended the time for filing his motion for a new trial after he failed to file it within the time limit specified by CrR 7.5(b). His argument is merely that because CrR 7.5(b) permits a court to extend the time for filing a motion for a new trial beyond the 10-day limit, it is an abuse of discretion to deny a motion as untimely.⁷ *Appellant’s*

⁷ In his brief, Everette states: “CrR 7.5 clearly contemplates that a motion to extend time could, in the court’s discretion, be granted. Therefore the fact that the motion is untimely cannot alone be a sufficient grounds for denying the motion.” *Appellant’s Brief* at 26.

Brief at 26. If it was a *per se* abuse of discretion for the court not to extend the time for filing when an untimely motion was made, then the 10-day time limit mandated by the first part of the rule would be meaningless. It is difficult to see how this circular logic demonstrates that no reasonable judge would have reached the conclusion of the trial court. Therefore, Everette fails to show the trial court abused its discretion.

Moreover, the record demonstrates that the trial court did thoughtfully consider whether or not to allow Everette to file his motion after the deadline provided by CrR 7.5(b). Prior to ruling on the motion, because Everette's complaints were against his attorney, the court appointed a new attorney to assist Everette with his claims. On March 12, 2014, the court held a hearing where Everette was given the opportunity to argue for an extension of the time for filing. After hearing from the parties, the court denied Everette's motion as untimely. The court reached this decision based on the fact that Everette's complaints of evidence not being submitted involved evidence that was known or could have been discovered with reasonable diligence at the time of trial. Accordingly, because this evidence was available, the court reasoned that Everette's attorney chose not to submit it as part of his trial strategy. If this was an unreasonable tactical decision, then Everette's claim was ineffective assistance of counsel. The court also found that had this evidence been

submitted, it would not have changed the outcome of the trial, and that because Everette had filed his notice of appeal, jurisdiction over this issue properly belonged with the Court of Appeals.

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in declining to grant Everette additional time for filing his motion for a new trial. There was no claim provided of newly discovered evidence that could not have been discovered with reasonable diligence. Therefore, none of the grounds for a new trial under CrR 7.5(a) applied. CrR 7.5(a) does not list ineffective assistance of counsel as a basis for a motion for a new trial, and this is precisely what Everette was claiming. *See* CrR 7.5(a). Such a claim is more appropriately brought, as it is routinely, on appeal. Unlike trial counsel, an appellate attorney has the benefit of reviewing the verbatim report of proceedings to discern whether there is a basis for an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. It is also noteworthy, that even with the opportunity to review the full trial transcript, Everette has not argued for ineffective assistance of counsel in his appeal.

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